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			Duncan McNab is a former police detective, private investigator, investigative journalist and media adviser. He was in the Gao murder trial courtroom for eighteen weeks and has been following Rogerson’s career – on both sides of the law – for over 30 years. Quite simply, he knows more about Roger Rogerson than anyone else – alive.

		

	
		
			Also by Duncan McNab

			Waterfront

			Outlaw Bikers in Australia

			Dead Man Running

		

	
		
			[image: tile page art]

		

	
		
			

			For years it was almost heresy to say or think that Roger Rogerson was anything other than a good bloke. This book is dedicated to those who had the guts to disagree.

		

	
		
			Prologue

			Jamie Gao was born in 1993. That year, Paul Keating was back in The Lodge after winning the allegedly unwinnable election against the Coalition. In New South Wales, corruption was on the front pages, prompting the Wood Royal Commission that exposed decades of corruption in the police force.

			However, there was a brief respite from the state’s woes on 24 September, when Juan Antonio Samaranch, then President of the International Olympic Committee, took the podium at the Louis II Stadium in Monaco to announce the city to host the 2000 Olympics. In his thick Spanish accent he told the world, ‘The winner is Sydney.’ The Emerald City was the focus of the world, with the New York Times reporting: ‘An estimated 100 000 people flocked to Circular Quay on Sydney Harbour where the first European settlers set foot on Australian soil 205 years ago. They shouted in joy as they watched the announcement from Monte Carlo, Monaco on two giant television screens two hours before dawn. Tens of thousands were still dancing in the streets after the sun rose.’

			One of Sydney’s notables who wasn’t dancing in the street was Roger Rogerson, the former golden boy of the NSW Police and a detective who once believed he was earmarked to head the Criminal Investigation Branch (CIB), and maybe get his feet under the Commissioner’s desk in Police headquarters in College Street.

			Journalist Neil Mercer opened his 2011 interview series The Life and Times of Roger Rogerson – Beyond Blue Murder saying Rogerson was ‘smart, pragmatic, a born leader’. While Roger was in ‘the job’ (the police term for the force), he was venerated by many, but his colleagues’ enthusiasm began to wane after Roger’s shooting of drug dealer Warren Lanfranchi in Dangar Place, then a grimy side street in Sydney’s Chippendale, on the afternoon of Saturday, 27 June 1981. It was an event that started the slide of his career from high-flying detective to ‘disgraced former detective’.

			By 1993, Rogerson was in Berrima Gaol serving his first year of a sentence for conspiracy to pervert the course of justice. His conviction arose from attempts to hide $110 000 believed to be the proceeds from a heroin deal done back in 1985 with Dennis ‘Dr Death’ Allen. Allen was a vicious Melbourne criminal deeply involved in drug trafficking and a man who bragged of committing over 10 murders, including the grisly dismemberment of a Hells Angels member with a chainsaw. Unfortunately for Rogerson, his problems concealing the $110k cash were recorded on audiotapes after he’d been chatting over lunch in Sydney’s fashionable Bayswater Brasserie with colourful identities Dr Nick Paltos, solicitor Ross Karp and businessman Maurie Nowytarger over what to do with the money. Paltos and Karp were under investigation by the Australian Federal Police (AFP) for drug trafficking, and picking up their post-lunch conversation alerted the authorities to Roger’s shenanigans. To use an old police phrase, ‘you can’t help bad luck’. Roger added to his problems in May 1985 when caught on the security camera of the National Australia Bank in York Street in Sydney’s CBD depositing a large sum of cash into an account he’d opened in a fake name. For a former member of the Armed Hold Up Squad – known around the CIB as ‘the stick ups’ – it was an elementary and unforgiveable error, and, as recent history has shown, one Rogerson would repeat.

			His imprisonment came nearly seven years after being booted out of the NSW Police, and after he’d been convicted then successfully appealed that conviction, only to have the High Court overturn that decision. Aside from his legal troubles, his relationship with the homicidal, drug-dealing Arthur ‘Neddy’ Smith had also been shattered. The year before, Smith, doing life for murder, gave evidence at the Independent Commission Against Corruption (ICAC) about his and Rogerson’s criminal antics. According to Neddy they drank, dined and caroused through a large part of the 1980s, and made a chunk of cash from armed robberies and drug deals. Their relationship was later made infamous by Smith’s book and the ABC’s acclaimed 1995 miniseries Blue Murder.

			After years of high-stress court cases, not to mention the high cost of representation by the cream of the nation’s barristers, to have it all finally done and dusted, the peace of low-security Berrima Gaol in the Southern Highlands may have well been a relief.

			The prison was in the twilight of its career, used for inmates who had a low risk of fleeing but a high risk of being assaulted or killed in other prisons either because of the nature of their crimes, or because of who they were. Or both. It was where politicians, police, lawyers, public figures and paedophiles were sent and had been home to the ex-minister for Corrective Services Rex ‘Buckets’ Jackson, convicted of taking bribes to give prisoners an early release; Tim Bristow, the former copper, standover man, private investigator, ‘colourful Sydney identity’, and former first-grade rugby player with a reputation that scared anyone with sense, and a contact book that gave him access to some of the nation’s most important figures; and notorious paedophiles like Robert ‘Dolly’ Dunn. When Rogerson arrived, he saw some familiar faces from his police career and said, ‘there are about 16 ex-coppers here, including former deputy commissioner Bill Allen, who is almost 71 years of age and a nice old bloke, so I have plenty of mates to talk to. I have been sitting here writing this letter as well as watching the first State of Origin match at Lang Park. Thank God the Blues won. I bet a chocolate bar on them winning. Believe me – that’s a big bet down here.’

			Another positive was his developing relationship with Anne Melocco, who, like Rogerson, had grown up in the Bankstown area and now lived only a few hundred metres away from the home at Condell Park that Roger had shared with his wife, Joy, and their two daughters. Joy, after finally realising she’d married two different men sharing the same body – the brave policeman, doting father, kind neighbour; and the calculating, ruthless criminal – had filed for divorce while Roger was in prison pending the outcome of his first appeal. Anne, aware of some of Roger’s faults and charms, would eventually become wife number two.

			In 2005, when Roger was sentenced for another brush with electronic surveillance – this time lying under oath to the Police Integrity Commission (PIC) in 1999 while unaware the true story had been captured on audiotapes – a District Court judge and a prominent psychiatrist both expressed the view that Roger might be rehabilitated and unlikely to re-offend, which helped, in part, get him a decent discount on his sentence. Around this time, while writing my book The Dodger, I wasn’t sure about rehabilitation, but I thought with Roger now eligible for a Seniors Card and with dodgy knees and a shoulder ruined when a roof collapsed under him while helping a friend demolish a building, the chance of him dabbling in crime again was unlikely. I was wrong.

			When Roger emerged from prison a year later he wasn’t heading to a life of sunshine. Instead, he was out and looking for opportunities to use his significant abilities and experience to make a quid as the nation’s leading crime consultant. If only he’d resisted the opportunity for that one last fling at the sharp end.

			In 1993, former NSW Police detective Glen McNamara was living with his wife, Cheryl, and two young daughters in Austinmer, a peaceful little village perched between the beach and Illawarra escarpment 70 kilometres south of Sydney’s CBD. McNamara’s career in the police force had ended in 1989 and he’d taken the family out of the city, ostensibly for their safety. Four years later he was planning a return to the city. In his 2010 book Dirty Work he said they’d ‘decided to move back there. It seemed to me that if someone wanted to get at me and my family they would find me anyway even if I was out of Sydney, so we may as well lead the life we wanted to live.’ Who that someone might be was never clear, but in 1993 McNamara was poised and ready to write his own history, casting himself in the role of a crusader with an abiding hatred of drug dealers, paedophiles and corrupt police.

			Fast forward to 20 May 2014. Roger Rogerson, the nation’s most notorious copper whether ex- or serving, the crusading McNamara and Jamie Gao met in a dark storage unit in Padstow in Sydney’s south-west to consummate a drug deal. Gao, then studying business at the University of Technology Sydney, was there to sell Rogerson, then 73 years old, and McNamara, then 55 years old, three kilograms of the destructive, addictive and very fashionable drug ice. What the naive young man didn’t know was that there would be a gun instead of the cash. Jamie Gao died that afternoon from two closely grouped gunshots to his chest. He didn’t reach the milestone of his twenty-first birthday on 27 November. The new face of Australian crime met the old, and the old prevailed.
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			In the beginning there was a hero

			Roger Rogerson, like many of his police peers, was institutionalised by the NSW Police force by the time he’d hit his mid twenties.

			He was born on 3 January 1941 and spent his first six years in Bondi, but then the family moved to Stacey Street, Bankstown, in south-west Sydney. It was a working-class suburb, growing quickly in the years following World War II as Sydney sprawled westward. Paul Keating, another old Bankstown boy, described his peers in a speech in 2000 saying they ‘represented all that was good about Australia. The people had no inherited wealth. They effectively sold their labour.’ It was an ideal place for Roger’s father, Owen, who was ‘an old boilermaker, a pommy who’d come out here from Yorkshire’ according to his son, and had knocked around in rural Queensland before heading to Sydney. During the war, Owen’s skills with metal precluded him being allowed to enlist, and instead he worked building ships. He was a strong advocate for the working man and a member of the Communist Party of Australia.

			Shortly after he arrived in Sydney he met the church-going Mabel Boxley and after their marriage lived with her family in Bondi, until her father’s asthma prompted a move west to somewhere drier. The family home in Bankstown was on a few acres of land and, as the decades passed, became a valuable site. The Rogersons were a solid, unimaginative lot, as evidenced by their choice of Christian name for their first-born son and Owen for his younger brother.

			Roger joined the police force as a cadet at the age of 17 in January 1958. He said, ‘I really don’t know why I joined. My father hated the police.’ His mother wanted him to take a step up in the class structure that was part of the Australian culture at that time and study engineering. ‘I was bright enough,’ Roger observed in one of his numerous media outings. One possible reason for putting policing in his mind was a cousin who’d been a cadet and told him the work was ‘exciting’ – which is youthful enthusiasm because the reality of a police cadet’s day at the time was making the tea; operating the station’s switchboard which was a baffling mass of cables, switches and lights; cleaning up the mess left by prisoners, an unpleasant task, particularly on the weekend when the cells were full of men sobering up after a big night; and being the general dogsbody. A size nine police boot planted in the bottom of the cadet was a frequent incentive to work hard.

			Roger was well qualified for the NSW Police of his time. He could read, write, add, subtract, multiply and divide. For those members of the Criminal Investigation Branch who were corrupt, the ability to divide accurately was considered an important skill when splitting the profits of bribes and when portioning out cash that had come their way either through bribes or a crook’s misadventure – like having the proceeds of his crime scooped up by corrupt detectives as ‘tax’. Most importantly, Roger was healthy, over the minimum height of 173 centimetres and his weight was in proportion. The police force he entered was one of white males of Anglo-Saxon descent, either Protestant (preferably Church of England or Presbyterian, as Methodists were thought to be a little too moral for the coppers and had a reputation for being abstemious – ‘never trust a man who doesn’t drink’ was one of many police mottos) or Catholic. Women or ‘Dickless Tracys’ were few and their duties were confined to school lecturing or interviewing sexual assault victims or young children. People from Southeast Asia could be found in Chinatown around Dixon Street in the Haymarket, where Roger spent the early part of his career, but not in the force. Not a great deal had changed when I joined two decades later in September 1977.

			Shortly after his nineteenth birthday he was sworn as a police officer and got the dream of most young constables – a station close to home. In Bankstown Roger proved himself to be a diligent and capable uniform copper – ‘one to watch’ as an old detective told me, which, given the level of corruption in criminal investigation work, may not have been a compliment. He said of the time, ‘I loved the work, I loved the camaraderie and I was making great arrests and I worked with a great team of blokes.’ The only problem with such a posting is that you have the opportunity to arrest people you’d grown up with, but that didn’t bother Roger unduly and he turned his local knowledge into a positive to gather intelligence on the local crooks, which is the lifeblood of any detective. He said, ‘I knew a lot of the guys. I’d been to school with them – the car thieves, the break and enter merchants and I was getting pieces of information about them even back in those days, and passing that on to the local detectives and then they invited me to apply for plainclothes. We were forever locking up blokes for doing break and enters on garages – service stations these days – and on the factories that were springing up around Villawood and Padstow.’

			Police were encouraged to contribute some of their free time to the Police Boys Club and Roger, a talented musician who’d toyed with a career in music, was a ‘musical instructor’ at the St George club’s musical theatre society. The St George club was, according to Roger, the only one in the state at that time that had female members and he recalled, ‘some very attractive ladies came along and were in the musical society and I was very attracted to them as well’. Roger became the musical director, putting to use the years of piano study his mother had encouraged him to undertake. He recalled the prospect of heading into full-time work in the club ‘nearly swayed me’. Detective work won, however, and he successfully applied for criminal investigation duty in 1962.

			Induction into the brotherhood of policing – ‘it’s us versus them, son’ as I was told in a variety of ways with monotonous regularity during my training – and particularly the sharp end of criminal investigation, was marked by your willingness to break or bend rather than enforce the law. The process started in uniform where ‘freebies’ like food from restaurants and booze from pubs were part of the daily routine. A publican who didn’t ‘kick the tin’ with a delivery of free grog for the station at Christmas could be guaranteed a leisurely response to any problems at their hotel. A lesson had to be learned, and if the publican got the message, then service levels would improve. Kickbacks from tow truck operators or funeral directors were common. If an accident came over the air on police radio some police would head directly to the scene, whereas others would divert to either a phone box or a phone in the muster room – where we did our paperwork – to make a quick call to a mate in the towing business to get a spotter’s fee. If you were called to a ‘dead un’, and after deciding there was no foul play, the bereaved were introduced to a caring funeral director who did cash kickbacks if they got the job. It was a game in which you either became a player or didn’t, but kept quiet and non-judgemental. Whistleblowing wasn’t a realistic option.

			This cloak of brotherhood was also an effective tool to keep serious corruption well concealed. In the CIB squads who specialised in specific areas of crime, there were usually the ‘A team’ or the ‘B team’ (to borrow Rogerson’s oft brag of being head of the A team at the Armed Hold Up Squad). The A teams at the squads had remarkable arrest records but kept their secret of success to themselves. In the squad, they kept to their own clique, which proved to be a handy way to keep others ignorant of the specifics of what they were up to. They considered themselves the elite of an elite organisation, untouchable and a law unto themselves – which was pretty accurate until Roger shot Warren Lanfranchi, in an act that prompted scrutiny at a time when corruption was becoming an issue.

			I first met Rogerson in my early days at the CIB. In 1984 I’d been transferred to a new squad tasked to deal with underage kids prostituting themselves around Kings Cross. They congregated around the now heritage-listed El Alamein Fountain – then also the preferred venue for buck’s nights if you had a set of handcuffs and planned to secure a very drunk and naked groom to something public and prominent. The kids were causing regular headlines in the tabloids, prompting our political leaders to pay attention. Roger had just been transferred to Darlinghurst Detectives, where he was second in charge. He reckoned his transfer was because he was getting too senior in rank to be on the street. However, the likelihood is that his shooting of Lanfranchi and his willingness to talk to the media about it had drawn attention to an incident which was anything but cut and dried. Senior police loathe criticism and scrutiny, and Roger’s actions had ensured just that. He’d let his ego put him on the front page, and made himself too hot. The senior CIB coppers and notion of brotherhood had been so successful in keeping below the line that most of the coppers working outside the CIB – and even the honest cops working with them – had no clue about the level of corruption.

			I met Roger at the Darlinghurst Police Station, where we usually took people for interviews or to process after arrest, and my colleague offered him a lift down to the Remington Centre where the squads were based. It was less than one kilometre down Oxford Street, but police don’t like walking when a drive is on offer, which may account for the girth that often goes hand in hand with seniority. Roger was memorable because he was utterly charming and lacked the aloofness of many senior coppers. He immediately engaged with me, finding out where I’d been, where I hoped to head – smart, probing questions that also left you feeling part of a greater team of blokes who gave a damn. One detective aptly said Roger was ‘mesmerising’. After that initial meeting, if I bumped into him in the building he’d always make a point of stopping for a brief chat – firm handshake, twinkling eyes, smile.

			Over 30 years later I’m still astounded by my own level of naiveté when I first arrived at the Juvenile Crime Squad. Captivated to be at the heart of the CIB, charmed by Roger, blissfully ignorant of notable corruption and looking forward to a career in which, like my peers, I wanted to be a detective of the calibre of Roger Rogerson and his ilk. However, working around Kings Cross in those days gave you a fast education in a range of things – how your fellow man looked when they’d hit rock bottom; a parallel universe where some crims did have morals, albeit a little to the left of mainstream; the depths some could plumb for cash or pleasure; and that first strong whiff that something was horribly amiss in the brotherhood in which I aspired to succeed.

			When I found myself on the carpet – literally – and told in clear terms that should I persist in either visiting brothels in the Cross to make sure that underage kids weren’t working there, or visiting Costello’s nightclub – later the focus of lurid allegations at the Wood Royal Commission of it being a gay brothel featuring underaged boys – with the same purpose, then I could look forward to a career pounding the beat back of Bourke. I got the message I was unwelcome at these venues, and took my nosy nature elsewhere in the Cross. There were plenty of targets.

			Confirmation of the rotten state of the CIB came in 1983 when I was at the Fraud Squad – a mob that considered itself both gentlemanly and a cut above the rest. The squad had its own ‘mess’ where politicians, businessmen and ex-senior coppers were invited for Friday drinkies and the unofficial uniform was grey slacks, black moccasins, white shirt and blue blazer. Senior ‘fraudies’ teamed that with a blue shirt with white cuffs and collar and a yellow tie – they looked a bit like salesmen at a luxury secondhand car dealership on Parramatta Road.

			Victims of high-value fraud – over $100 000 in those days – were interviewed by senior officers who decided whether to flick the investigation to local detectives; pass it off as a ‘grey’ area and likely to be a civil rather than criminal case; or take on the investigation if it was unavoidable or potentially profitable. I twigged to the discreet game being played when a victim – a prominent Sydney accountant who’d been allegedly rorted by an employee – expressed his surprise when my partner and I turned up to interview him. He thought the case was dead after he’d declined to ‘kick the tin’ for $10 000 as had been demanded of him. The game was that they’d hit the victim first for cash, and if that didn’t work, hit the alleged crook to ensure the case went into the black hole of the grey area. My mate and I thought we had a good case, and ignored the scowls and arrested the employee. Still being rather naive, we thought we’d done the right thing and there were no warning bells when the employee turned up for interview accompanied by a partner from one of the top five law firms, and a lawyer whose knowledge of criminal law was rudimentary.

			We battled the case through committal in the lower courts, and had a slick prosecution team running the case for the trial – until the morning of the first day. At the District Court in Darlinghurst, beside the ‘wailing wall’ where young male prostitutes plied their trade after dark, we found that our lawyers had been replaced. The trial was done in two hours and we were neatly shafted. There were all smirks when we returned. A lesson learned, and one that meant I looked at my brothers in a new, and not pleasant, light.

			The CIB squads all had their own approach to profitability. The Motor Squad, where Rogerson spent some time in the ’70s, were responsible for policing the state’s car dealers, many of whom kept the coppers in cash in return for a blind eye that didn’t notice stolen cars being sold through their dealerships, or, in one instance, a dealer who rented his trade-in stock to criminals so they could change cars, regularly making evading surveillance by other police a simpler task. The most popular and lucrative was the car rebirthing business. While stealing an exotic car and motoring down to the porous Sydney waterfront and driving it into a shipping container poised to be loaded onto a ship had a touch of élan and could be profitable, the regular and big bucks were in bog-standard Holdens and Fords.

			Stealing cars in the days before alarms and electronic locking was easy: force the door lock using a tool developed for the purpose. For some models, just slide a ruler along the door window and into the door itself, and up comes the locking button. The thief then hot-wired the car or stuck a screwdriver into the ignition lock, a twist to break it, then fire up the engine. Back at the rebirther’s factory, usually part of a car wrecking yard, the compliance plates and so on from a wreck bought at a salvage auction were used to ‘rebirth’ the stolen car.

			Roger’s career peaked at the Armed Hold Up Squad. The squad considered itself to be the heaviest of all – big crimes, big guns, and plenty of danger given the men they were hunting. Some detectives helped themselves to the spoils of armed robbery when they captured the felon. The crook had a range of options depending on the mood of the detectives and their feelings towards him. One who wasn’t prepared to do business could face the coppers helping themselves to a large chunk of his cash, and then charging him with a string of robberies – some of which he hadn’t committed. An unsigned record of interview or an ‘I said, he said’–style conversation faithfully recorded contemporaneously in longhand was sufficient to get the bloke convicted. Professional witnesses of Rogerson’s calibre had no problem swaying a jury or a judge.

			The more savvy robbers knew a deal could be done. So for an appropriate cash contribution (detectives quip that one of the great crimes was ‘offer insufficient bribe’) and perhaps some information – ‘the drum’ on fellow crooks and what they were planning – they could walk free or get a lesser charge. When Rogerson and Arthur ‘Neddy’ Smith forged their partnership in the late ’70s they took an entrepreneurial leaf from the Motor Squad’s playbook and crossed the line into joint criminal enterprise.

			The good cops of New South Wales worked hard, honestly and diligently, but the crooks were firmly in control.
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			Opportunity knocks – loudly

			In the late ’70s a new world of opportunity opened up for the corrupt copper to make a ‘quid’ and infinitely more than car scams, and standing over robbers and fraud victims. It was not only incredibly profitable but it was also very low risk. Drugs, heroin in particular.

			The catalyst was a series of raids on Sydney’s north shore in 1979 on suspected heroin traffickers and their key dealers. The scope of the raids was so great, the Drug Squad needed a hand. They had multiple targets all to be hit hard and at the same time. Before mobile phones, communication was based on trust, planning, and the occasional use of pagers or a stop at a phone box. Use of police radio – VKG – wasn’t encouraged because in those days anyone with a scanner could be eavesdropping. The Observation Squad, known as the ‘dogs’ for their ability to faithfully and unobtrusively follow their target, had been on their quarry in the lead-up, watching where they went, who they met, what they drove and so on, establishing a pattern from which the arrest operation could be developed. Most importantly they could let the detectives know when the right people were at the addresses on the search warrants.

			Operations of this scale were few, but when they were on, the Remington Centre in Liverpool Street where the CIB was based hummed with excitement. Down in the basement car park, which was protected by a badly dented security roller shutter – dented by too many detectives’ cars when their drivers had either forgotten it was there, or were too pissed to notice – the big Falcon 351 cus and V8s were loaded for war. The scene always had me humming lines from the police pirate song ‘With Catlike Tread’ from Gilbert and Sullivan’s The Pirates of Penzance – an analogy that Roger Rogerson, the musical theatre aficionado, would have liked. Into the capacious boots were loaded tools of the trade like bullet-proof vests and the Wingmaster shotguns, known as ‘alley cleaners’ for the large amount of lead they could spray into a confined space. Nothing more sobering than hearing the slide racked from behind you.

			Then came the other essentials of the period, the ‘exhibits’ that could come in handy. Small bags of drugs like heroin or marijuana were useful along with a selection of old handguns handed down over the generations at the CIB, or borrowed from the piles that should have been melted down. They were useful for planting on someone who’d been shot but was found to have been minus a gun, or slipped into a criminal’s pocket or dropped in their house during the search. Detectives hated to walk away without an arrest or a bargaining chip to use against the hapless criminal. Welcome to the art of ‘loading’.

			The atmosphere inside the cars as they sped across the Harbour Bridge towards their allotted targets would have been a mix of testosterone and tension, tempered by the occasional wisecrack – inevitably the black humour of police – from men like Roger who had both a sense of humour and a sense of timing. This raid was out of the ordinary for other reasons too, as it was timed for late afternoon. Police prefer to do their raiding around dawn. The time brings natural light and most crooks are sleeping deeply. But the coppers planned on catching them red-handed. For drug dealers the afternoon was the time when they’d be busy breaking up their supply into wholesale amounts and deals for the night’s business.

			Raids like those ran to a format. Local police were seldom in the loop because the CIB squads didn’t want anyone getting in their way, and also didn’t want the locals tipping off the targets. Corrupt coppers assumed, fortunately incorrectly, that their colleagues in blue were also susceptible to being bent. At the scene, cars were parked out of sight, with a few detectives left to drive if someone did a runner or to use the radio to get urgent assistance if matters got out of hand, or to call ambulances and so on. The property, if possible, was surrounded to prevent the occupants using windows or the back door to escape. Like actors waiting to make their entrance, everyone was on the balls of their feet until the sharp three knocks on the door and ‘open up, Police’ was shouted. Everyone stayed to either side of the door because drummed into you from your first days of training was that if you stood in front someone might just shoot through the door. Nearly 40 years later, I still stand to one side.

			In the old days we didn’t have battering rams, and a shoulder to the door could result in a very unpleasant injury and a door that hadn’t budged. A sledgehammer to the lock was more effective. When the door opened, the coppers poured in, targeting anyone in the place and searching them for weapons, while one would head to the toilet – usually the first place drug dealers ran to in the hope of flushing away the evidence. Those who made it to the back door with the intention of escaping were greeted with the business end of the aforementioned Remington Wingmaster. With the bad guys suitably subdued, the detectives began their methodical search, starting with the roof and working their way down. There was the occasional mishap. One time, my colleague and I, armed with notebooks and pen, had been either side of the door waiting for the ‘trained killers’ (detectives with special weapons training) to pour through the door after we’d knocked and it had opened. The killers were so enthusiastic that in the rush my mate and I were accidentally shoved through the door and ended up flat on our backs in a room full of stoned youths, one of whom had murdered an old man using the .22 rifle we later found under the couch.

			On the day of the major raids, Rogerson hit pay dirt. One source who was there told me Roger walked into a room at one of the target properties and found bricks of heroin wrapped in plastic, which brought a smile to his face – it would be a high-profile arrest that would add to the Rogerson aura. The smile grew when he looked into a large plastic garbage bag that was propped against the wall and found it stuffed with cash. When Roger saw the faces of Charles Kingsford Smith on red-coloured bundles of $20 bills and Howard Florey on the gold-coloured $50 bills, he turned and said gleefully, ‘How good is this?’ It was one of those rare career-changing moments. Back at the CIB that night, Roger was still excited. One source reckoned he was so delighted he said something along the lines of ‘Bugger armed hold ups – they’re for yesterday’s blokes. This stuff is where the action is!’

			Rogerson was correct. Drugs were the way of the future for both criminals and corrupt coppers and the son of a boilermaker who’d learned his craft as a detective from old-school police saw the opportunities. With the arrival of drugs in the life of Roger Rogerson and other corrupt detectives, the opportunity to prosper was theirs.

			The prevailing attitudes were perfect for bent coppers looking at new revenue sources. Cecil ‘Cec’ Abbott was appointed to the commissioner job in 1981; in the ’70s he’d been head of the Drug Squad. When asked by a journalist, ‘How seriously do you think we are threatened in the future with large scale drug addiction in this country?’ he replied, ‘I’m not greatly worried about the position. I feel that Australians are not generally drug conscious.’ It was both a remarkably naive and plainly stupid answer.

			Australia had been the world’s leader in cocaine use per capita in the ’30s, with Sydney leading the nation in trafficking and use. It was William McKay, who became commissioner in 1935, who’d led the fight against Kate Leigh and Tilly Devine – the head honchos of the trade. World War II and tough laws, rather than good police work, killed a trade that was reliant on imports. Despite his time in the Drug Squad, Abbott hadn’t come to grips with the recent history of heroin as a drug of addiction. In 1967, US soldiers from Vietnam came to Sydney on their R&R. Their focus was a good time and Kings Cross was happy to accommodate them. The drug quickly spread through sex workers then into the broader community – it became a problem that touched us all irrespective of social standing or perceived social standing.

			The misery of heroin addiction was a great leveller. In Abbott’s world the great drug menace was marijuana and that’s where his mind was. It was the time of people with Italian-sounding names living in the ‘grass castles’ of Griffith corrupting the youth of the nation with their insidious product, and the harder the police chased them the less they looked to the new problem heading their way. It’s intriguing to recall that the royal commissions and similar inquiries of the ’70s when drugs popped up on the national agenda were entirely focused on marijuana that was mainly grown in Australia.

			What police also weren’t noticing, perhaps because contemporary policing didn’t demand business acumen, was that large-scale drug trafficking required organisation and the networks that pushed marijuana around the country were useful for other substances. The only impediment was getting the heroin into the country from Southeast Asia, which is a relatively simple and low-risk enterprise given our porous borders and the advent of a smuggler’s dream – the shipping container.

			In 1980, Alfred McCoy – a US academic who was then a professor at the University of New South Wales – wrote in his book Drug Traffic: Narcotics and Organized Crime in Australia that ‘no city in the world could rival Sydney’s tolerance for organised crime. During the eleven years from 1965 to 1976, with the Liberal-Country Party in power, the State endured a period of police and political corruption unparalleled in its modern history.’ McCoy was correct, but the decade after 1976 was a turbulent mix of crime organising, corruption and the public’s slow awakening to the problem.

			May 1976 marked the departure of the old government and the arrival of Labor led by Neville Wran – QC, Balmain boy by birth and Woollahra resident by choice. It took a few difficult years for the police to come to grips with the new power in Macquarie Street. So concerned were senior police for the future under Wran they went on the offensive, tasking a team of handpicked detectives to round-the-clock surveillance on some of Wran’s ministers and supporters. Two targets were the law officers who’d have the greatest impact on police – the Attorney-General Frank Walker, and Chief Stipendiary Magistrate Murray Farquhar, who was known to be a Labor supporter. The idea behind the surveillance was to ‘get a brief’ on the men which could be used to blackmail them. One of the team told me surveillance on Walker was to ‘catch him fucking out of school, kick in the door and get some tasty photos, then we’d see what a civil libertarian he really is’.

			Causing ructions was the break-up of the Vice Squad and a more liberal and intelligent approach to policing the world’s oldest profession and one that had provided regular income for coppers for generations. The likelihood of a legal casino for New South Wales, plus the growth of the TAB for those fancying a punt on the horses or dogs meant there was both a practical reason and political capital in making the entrenched and highly profitable illegal gaming sector a target. Tasked to close down the illicit games, the CIB’s 21 Division was a mandatory training squad for all aspiring detectives where we learned to work the street, develop informant networks and learned how and when to apply a blind eye.

			Being naive and still in awe of the brotherhood I’d been allowed to join, it did take me a while after arriving at 21 Division in January 1980 to fathom why some of the senior men tasked with our mentoring would disappear into brothels – or massage parlours, to be more polite – for a short time. Like a kid at the pub with our father, we’d sit in the car while he went inside – never long enough for the services on offer, but, in hindsight, long enough to pick up an envelope. Anti-gaming became the focus of the division in New South Wales – terrorising card games above or behind shops, SP bookies taking a few dollars in the bar of a pub, and occasional bigger casinos that were littered around the inner west and inner east. A slight whiff emerged when Deputy Commissioner Bill Allen – handpicked and promoted by Wran and later demoted, charged, convicted and sent to Berrima Gaol where he was on the Rogerson welcoming committee – turned up at our office demanding to see our boss, Merv Beck.

			The crackdown was going beautifully it seemed, but Beck had raided Chinatown, which, according to Allen’s yelling, easily audible through the closed door of Beck’s office, had caused trouble. Raid vigorously, Merv, but just not Chinatown. Beck’s response was typical: he raided Chinatown but first stopped for a photo opportunity, standing outside the CIB with a sledgehammer to deal with locked doors.

			The Wran Government had something of a honeymoon period before the traditional New South Wales issues of graft and corruption emerged. Senior police were alleged to have a weekly collection of a bag of money to keep them out of Abe Saffron’s hair in Kings Cross – an allegation later found to be entertaining but not accurate. Corrective Services Minister Rex Jackson was convicted of taking bribes to speed the release of some prisoners, and in 1983 that pesky TV programme Four Corners suggested something whiffy had happened which involved the rugby league, politics and the judiciary. The result was a royal commission headed by the Chief Justice, Sir Laurence Street. Wran, at the centre of the allegations, stood aside as premier.

			The consensus in the police at the time was that Wran’s temporary departure was a good thing. He and his government had been viewed with suspicion as they had the scent of reform about them and change was something police didn’t like. For example, the repeal of the Summary Offences Act – a handy piece of legislation beloved by police because it gave them the right to arrest people who annoyed for the most trivial of offences, like ‘unseemly words’, which could be as simple as telling the constable to fuck off. The appointment of Bill Allen added to their annoyance and concern that the ‘business as usual’ approach under Premier Askin was about to come to an end because of the ‘do-gooders’.

			Allen’s attack on Beck over Chinatown spread like wildfire around the CIB and did offer a glimmer that the do-gooders might not be as good as first thought, because to take Chinatown off the agenda meant the likelihood of ‘quids’ being paid to someone, which prompted the sleuths to start sleuthing. One other hope also emerged a little later when a detective with a deserved reputation for integrity was at a casino in Kings Cross in the labyrinth above the fast food joints where Bayswater Road meets Darlinghurst Road. The old rooms have been offices to players in the Australian film business, seedy lawyers and accountants, and entrepreneurs with short-lived careers – the sort of businesses that don’t ask questions about the other tenants.

			The detective was doing what detectives of the period did: getting out and looking around to see who was about and who they were mixing with, and being in an illegal casino was common because it was where crooks gathered. The detective got a major surprise when a prominent Labor politician walked in and strode up to the owner, who handed him what the detective believed to be a large bag of cash – the weekly payoff. The politician didn’t bother to exchange pleasantries, and left immediately. The detective followed and saw the politician chuck the bag onto the seat of the car he’d double-parked in Kellett Street. The detective noted the personalised number plates on the car and later confirmed it belonged to the politician’s wife.

			One of the final straws came in 1978 with a change to the way police investigate police, which until then had been the province of the ineffectual Internal Affairs Branch, the branch to which I would be ‘shanghaied’ (transferred without choice) from the Fraud Squad in late 1983.

			The argument about police investigating police still appears regularly but while there are, and certainly in the early ’80s were, very real concerns of bias – when I was there you really needed to be caught red-handed committing a crime or be just stupid – the flip side is, who do you get to investigate the investigators? Wran’s solution to the issue was to give oversight powers of internal investigations to the NSW Ombudsman. In a very New South Wales quirk, Chief Stipendiary Magistrate Murray Farquhar had been appointed by Wran as Acting Ombudsman for a short time. Murray went to prison in 1985 for conspiracy to pervert the course of justice. Lawyers and bureaucrats oversighting police investigations or doing them if the Ombudsman was dissatisfied wasn’t a howling success as the Wood Royal Commission proved.

			The police corruption problems were bubbling to the surface in the early 1980s and at the forefront were Roger Rogerson and his association with Neddy Smith, then the nation’s biggest heroin dealer.

			One of the motivators for a hard look at corruption and police was Liberal parliamentarian John Dowd, who said, ‘I was concerned about organised crime and the involvement of police at senior levels. It was both a privilege and duty to expose serious corruption in NSW. It was accepted at some levels, but I didn’t accept it.’ Dowd took his work outside the safety of Parliament and started doing his own ‘raids’ on illegal gambling dens, and then published his findings under privilege in a Parliamentary Question Paper. Rogerson and his antics disturbed Dowd. In November 1982 he moved an urgent motion in the Legislative Assembly for a judicial inquiry into the Lanfranchi shooting. Rogerson’s response was direct – the next morning he rang Dowd at his home and ‘used some foul language to my daughter who’d answered the phone’. When Dowd came to the phone Roger said, ‘it is easy to make threats in Parliament’ to which Dowd replied, ‘it’s easy to make threats outside Parliament’. Rogerson then said, ‘it is very easy. I’ve read about your background because you have spoken about your family and how important it is to you. I am worried about my own family.’ The threat to Dowd was clear, and delivered by a man who believed he could get away with attempting to intimidate a member of parliament, but it didn’t work. Dowd recounted Rogerson’s approach in Parliament, but very little happened. Some action to rein in Rogerson at this point might have precluded the messes that followed.
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			In the line of duty – or so he said

			Long after he was booted from the force, a friend of Rogerson gave him an unusual gift – a pen set made from bullet casings with the names of the three men he bragged of killing in the ‘line of duty’. The three were Lawrence ‘Butch’ Byrne, Phillip Western and Warren Lanfranchi. Roger was so chuffed by the gift that he commissioned more of them that he sold as part of his memorabilia range when he gave a speech. It was a nice little earner for him as he frequently spoke without commanding a fee; he cleaned up on the sales afterwards, sometimes taking a few thousand dollars.

			Phillip Western was his first official kill he bragged of. Western was a career criminal with a long and horrendous record, and on 29 June 1976 he was on the run after escaping from prison. Police had tracked him to a fibro house in Avoca on the New South Wales Central Coast, and the SWOS (Special Weapons and Operation Squad) was sent to capture him. SWOS was a group of the state’s toughest detectives drawn from the CIB squads for outings such as this; hence their ‘trained killers’ nickname. They headed to Avoca, armed with their .38 calibre Smith & Wesson service revolvers, Armalite rifles which shot a bullet that could slice through the engine of a car with ease, and their favourite weapon, the Remington pump action shotgun. The shotgun was lousy at a distance, but up close it was terrifying.

			SWOS surrounded the house and, according to legend, decided to shoot when Western saw them and tried an escape by clambering out of a window. The police opened fire, and kept firing until both the house and Western were decimated. Western’s body was found in the bathroom. Rogerson later bragged he’d been the one to fire the fatal shot, but the reality is it’s impossible to tell who was responsible. Other members of the SWOS team didn’t brag about the killing or contradict Rogerson.

			The next notch on Rogerson’s gun was the death of Lawrence ‘Butch’ Byrne. The late Mr Byrne was close to the end of a nine-year sentence for armed robbery and was on work release from prison at Silverwater. Instead of dutifully attending his day job as a panelbeater, Butch was busy planning new criminal capers, one of which was to rob the van taking the cash from South Sydney Juniors at Kingsford to the bank. Unfortunately for Butch, details of his planned robbery were passed on to the Armed Hold Up Squad. It was an intriguing moment in the squad’s history. The year before there had been 339 armed robberies in the state but in 1978 that number increased dramatically to 605, and a clear-up rate constant at an unspectacular 36 per cent.

			Butch had sensibly decided to do the robbery on 19 February 1978, a Sunday when there weren’t a lot of people about, police were having a dozy morning attending to things like washing the cars and planning a roast at the station, and the takings from the club would be at their highest for the week.

			However, his plans soon went to hell. His partners in crime were Allen Markham and Robert Hewitt. The trio were in a V8 Valiant they’d stolen earlier – a car that would easily blend into local traffic, and with a powerful engine that might help them get out of trouble. The takings from the club were moved into a VW Kombi van to transport to the bank in Kingsford, less than a kilometre away. When the van pulled up in front of the bank that quiet Sunday morning, and the three robbers slipped up behind, they had no clue the place was surrounded by heavily armed police ready to pounce.

			Rogerson told journalist Neil Mercer in 2009 that Byrne ‘saw police laying in wait and raised his shotgun’. Roger and his colleagues opened fire, and the Valiant drove off, with police following and shooting at it. Rogerson observed, ‘by the time it got to the Doncaster Avenue turn off, it looked like your mother’s colander. Butchy fell into the gutter as dead as a door nail.’ One police officer who was at the scene had a different story, one he still remembered clearly nearly 40 years later. He said, ‘it was an execution. The Valiant stopped with the three crims in it. Rogerson had a shotgun and Aarne Tees had his service revolver. The pair opened fire without any warning before the robbers had even opened the doors of the car, and I think Butch copped it first. The driver was still in one piece and gunned the engine, and pulled out from the kerb to try and escape the flying lead. As the Valiant peeled away, the police kept firing. It was very Hollywood, but they did hit the Valiant repeatedly and luckily shot a tyre out, probably by good fortune rather than good shooting. The Valiant finally stopped near Doncaster Avenue.’ He went on, ‘There was a young mother pushing her child in a pram nearby as the shooting started. Lucky they didn’t get hit.’

			Byrne died shortly after in Prince of Wales Hospital. Surveillance police filmed the whole event, which was a problem for Rogerson. Back at the CIB later that day, Rogerson and Tees walked into the room where the surveillance police had set up a viewing of the footage. One source told me that as the pair arrived they were having a good-natured disagreement about who could take the credit for firing the fatal shot into Butch. Police have a black humour that helps to take the harsh edges off some of the appalling situations in which they’re involved, but to the men in that room who’d been at the shooting and had watched the tape, Rogerson and Tees had gone too far – a man was dead. Police are pragmatic and there was also the issue of all the paperwork that would follow a fatal shooting by police, and one that also left two live civilian witnesses in custody and able to give evidence about the shooting. One of the detectives gave the pair a dirty look that stopped them in their tracks. He said, ‘I think you two blokes should cut the comedy and look at this.’

			After Roger and Aarne watched the film, which didn’t fit with their script of the bad guys armed to the teeth and about to cause mayhem on the streets of Kingsford, their earlier banter changed tack, with Rogerson claiming Aarne had fired the fatal shot, and Aarne claiming it was Roger. In the end, everyone knew they’d get away with it. Whether you were appalled, indifferent or in favour of what had happened, you couldn’t buck the system, unless you wanted to risk a transfer to a remote part of New South Wales, be reminded of your past indiscretions or be told ‘We know where you and your family live’. The force was a brotherhood and the family politics were brutal.

			There were no repercussions from the shooting, and, as is often the case, rather than being chastised, the men were congratulated. Giving them a hand was the fact the robbery and shooting happened six days after the bombing of the Hilton Hotel in which Constable Paul Burmistriw had been killed. No one was going to criticise a grieving police force that week. Instead, some of the men at the scene, including Rogerson and Tees, were commended for their bravery. The Police Annual Report for the year 1978 noted the men received commendations for their actions when ‘three offenders were surprised whilst attempting an armed robbery of the South Sydney Juniors Rugby League Club at Kingsford on 19 February 1978. In the ensuing pursuit, shots were fired at police which they returned, fatally wounding one offender before effecting the arrest of the other criminals.’ It was one of the cases that led to Rogerson collecting the Peter Mitchell Award for his ‘exceptional’ work.

			Rogerson wasn’t as fortunate in his next official shooting and it brought his relationship with Arthur ‘Neddy’ Smith into the public eye. The two had met on 27 November 1976, when Smith had gone to the Rockdale Police Station as part of his bail reporting conditions, but instead of signing the card held behind the station counter and making small talk with the uniform police, Smith alleged he was surrounded by ten detectives from the Armed Hold Up Squad. The detectives pushed him to the ground, and Rogerson pointed the business end of a shotgun in his face and introduced himself, saying, ‘Got you, Neddy.’ It’s an account that makes for good reading, but the likelihood of a team of detectives with shotguns in the public space of a police station taking down a major criminal is unlikely. The probability is that he was taken quietly to a room and interviewed.

			It was the start of a long, deep and exceptionally profitable bromance. Smith later commented of the first meeting that he was frightened of Roger but ‘not so much the man but the power he seemed to have over the other police around him. When he spoke, they jumped – all of them.’ Neddy was charged for his involvement in the botched Fielders Bakery payroll robbery of 20 October that year in which the crooks – Neddy Smith and Bobby Chapman – had loosed off a few shots at the men from the bakery.

			Over the next few years Smith became one of the nation’s biggest, if not the biggest, heroin dealers, and said, ‘My success depended entirely on the connections I met through The Dodger.’ Roger was also busy: in 1978 he led the interrogations of members of the Ananda Marga, arrested for their alleged role in the bombing of the Hilton Hotel in February that year. His successes confirmed him as the ascendant detective at the CIB. The two men regularly celebrated their relationship at some of the city’s smartest restaurants like The Coachman in Redfern near the old Police Academy, and the chic Eliza’s in Double Bay – favoured by society mavens and the glitterati.

			On the afternoon of Saturday, 27 June 1981, Rogerson met Warren Lanfranchi in Dangar Place, Chippendale, then a scruffy laneway in an old suburb that was a mix of light industrial buildings and housing for people just scraping by. In generations before, it was the home to many of Sydney’s criminal fraternity. Lanfranchi had been introduced to the Smith/Rogerson team after meeting Neddy in prison. When the two were released in 1980, Lanfranchi, a fit, good-looking and wild young man who was the very black sheep of a good, hardworking family, asked Smith for work in his heroin trafficking empire. Lanfranchi was bright, greedy and fearless so he was an ideal recruit, and within a few weeks, was earning $10 000 per week and generating significantly more for his boss. Lanfranchi’s girlfriend was Sallie-Anne Huckstepp.

			However, Lanfranchi’s greed and ego outweighed his common sense and he started doing two things that would ultimately lead to his death. Like many other drug dealers, including Jamie Gao three-and-a-half decades later, Lanfranchi started skimming the heroin he was given to sell. He’d take a bulk delivery of the drug from Smith, who anticipated he’d distribute it as it was delivered, but instead he’d take an amount which he’d sell and trouser the profit, and dilute the rest of the drugs from Neddy to cover the weight of what he’d taken. What Lanfranchi may not have known was Rogerson was Smith’s alleged partner, and when dealers contacted the men to complain about the diminished quality, the avaricious Rogerson was unhappy.

			Lanfranchi’s next mistake was to take a shot at a police officer, and it was that stupid action which gave Rogerson the opportunity to deal with the problem decisively, and send a clear message to the underworld about who was in charge. Lanfranchi had decided, without telling Smith, that he was going to try his hand at armed robbery – then a fashionable crime of which Smith was a leading exponent. He, along with colleagues Stephen Pauley, a prison escapee at the time, and Aaron Thomas Smith were interrupted in the middle of a bank robbery in Drummoyne on 14 May 1981, by police motorcyclist Senior Constable Paul Walker who’d been patrolling Lyons Road and was the first copper on the scene. It was quite a common occurrence around this time and enthusiastic and brave bike-riding police would zoom to the scene, beating uniform police and detectives who were hacking their way through Sydney traffic. Unfortunately the lone bike rider made an excellent target for any criminal stupid or arrogant enough to think that shooting at a police officer was acceptable.

			When Walker pulled the car over and approached the driver’s side in the classic police vehicle-stop technique, Lanfranchi, who was lying on the back seat, sat up, pointed an automatic pistol at Walker and pulled the trigger. Automatics, particularly when not well maintained, can be erratic and this one misfired. As Lanfranchi tried to re-cock the pistol for a second attempt, the car sped off. The attempted murder of a police officer promoted him to the top of the NSW Police shit list.

			It wasn’t the first time Lanfranchi had contemplated shooting a police officer – an indicator of just how off the rails he was. A week before his death, Lanfranchi had been under surveillance and police had followed him and Pauley at what they thought was a safe distance and driving what they thought was an inconspicuous Ford Cortina station wagon. What they didn’t know was the pair had twigged to the surveillance and when the Cortina was stopped at a set of lights, Lanfranchi wanted to get out of the car and shoot the detective. Pauley, who was less impetuous and had a modicum of common sense, restrained him. This near-miss came to light when Pauley was arrested and decided to tell the truth. Until that time, the surveillance police and their back-up had been told not to arrest either man and maintain surveillance.

			When detectives were given authorisation to get Pauley, he was in a car with his girlfriend, Lyn Woodward – a prostitute and close friend of Sallie-Anne Huckstepp – and her baby was in a bassinette on the back seat.

			Rogerson directed Smith to arrange a meeting with Lanfranchi. Huckstepp later said that Rogerson had wanted $30 000 to make Lanfranchi’s problems with the armed robbery and cop shooting disappear, and Rogerson had suggested he’d accept $10 000 as a down payment, and get the rest as percentage of the take from armed robberies he’d guide Lanfranchi to. Huckstepp either didn’t comment on, or wasn’t aware of Warren’s problems with the drug skimming. He was also the suspect in around six armed robberies.

			Rogerson suggested they meet in a council-owned car park in Redfern, but Lanfranchi wasn’t keen on that idea, fearing it would be an easy place for an ambush. Instead, they settled on nearby Dangar Place. It was familiar territory for Smith and Lanfranchi. Neddy drank regularly at the nearby Lansdowne Hotel, and Lanfranchi had wrought havoc when he’d ridden a motorbike through the bar of the Broadway Hotel. On the police side of the meeting, it was meticulously planned. An inner cordon from the Armed Hold Up Squad would watch Rogerson’s back, while other detectives from the squad would be the outer cordon, making sure the public didn’t stray into the place, but were sufficiently distant from the action poised to unfold. There were 19 detectives in total.
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